ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Edgefield County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 29 2012

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEVEN BARNES,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2010-178247

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by denying appellant's pre-trial request to represent himself pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), since this record shows appellant was capable of representing himself and he even exhibited an uncanny understanding of the rules of evidence prior to trial, and the court's refusal to allow appellant to represent himself, citing Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164 (2008), was erroneous?

2.

Whether the court violated appellant's right to Due Process by relying on the pre-trial testimony of Dr. Price about appellant's ability to represent himself since appellant was evaluated by Dr. Price with the clear understanding that Dr. Price would exclusively be a penalty phase mitigation witness for him, particularly where one of appellant's two attorneys joined in appellant's objection to Dr. Price's pre-trial testimony under these circumstances?

3.

Whether the trial judge erred, in violation of appellant's rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments, by improperly limiting defense counsel's attempt to *voir dire* the jurors regarding their views on the death penalty, since this rendered appellant's trial fundamentally unfair?

4.

Whether the trial judge erred when he found Juror # 54 unqualified to sit as a juror where she was a qualified juror under Wainwright v. Witt, 469 US. 412 (1985), since her

views on the death penalty did not prevent or substantially impair the performance of her duties as a juror in accordance with her instructions and her oath?

5.

Whether the trial court erred by refusing to dismiss the indictments against appellant where the State's failure to comply with the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD) rendered the indictments without force in effect?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Edgefield County grand jury for the offenses of murder and kidnapping. R. 2363. His case was called to trial on November 8, 2010 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon, and a jury. Robert J. Harte and David B. Tarr represented appellant. Donald V. Meyers was the solicitor and Ervin J. Maye and H. Franklin Young, III were the assistant solicitors. R. 87. The jury found appellant guilty of murder and kidnapping. R. 1546, ll. 6-13.

The sentencing phase commenced on November 15, 2010. During the penalty phase of trial, the judge charged the jury to consider the statutory aggravating factors that (1) the murder was committed while in the commission of a kidnapping, and (2) the murder was committed while in the commission of physical torture. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-20(B) (b) and (i). R. 2303, l. 5 - 2304, l. 6.

The judge charged the jury to consider the statutory mitigating circumstances that the murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of mental or emotional disturbance, the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired, and the age or mentality of the defendant at the time of the crime. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-20(C)(2)(6) and (7).

The judge also charged the non-statutory mitigating circumstances of the background, sexual and physical abuse and neglect of the defendant as a child, and use and abuse of drugs. R. 2313, l. 24 - 2316, l. 5.

On November 17, 2010 the jury found the aggravating circumstances of kidnapping and physical torture, and sentenced appellant to death. R. 2330, ll. 2-24. Judge McMahon then sentenced appellant to death. R. 2338, l. 25 - 2339, l. 15.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by denying appellant's pre-trial request to represent himself pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), since this record shows appellant was capable of representing himself and he even exhibited an uncanny understanding of the rules of evidence prior to trial, and the court's refusal to allow appellant to represent himself, citing Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164 (2008), was erroneous.

Relevant Facts – Friday, November 5, 2010

At the November 5, 2010 pretrial motions hearing, the judge first heard motions by defense attorneys Tarr and Harte. R. 4-29. The court then heard appellant's *pro se* motion to represent himself pursuant to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975):

THE COURT: All right. Let's talk about the first motion. What's your first motion?

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Yes, sir.

First and foremost, I would like to say that – first and foremost, I'd like to say that, you know, Robert Harte and David Tarr, they're excellent people, but, you know, my life is on the line in this trial, and my first motion would be that I would like to put in a Faretta versus California motion.

THE COURT: A what motion?

THE DEFENDANT: Faretta versus California motion.

THE COURT: All right. Faretta, yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: Basically the motion is that I plan on in this trial representing myself.

THE COURT: You want to represent yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. And I knowingly and intelligently waive my right to counsel.

Now, the second issue will have to be ex parte if you don't mind. I'd like to bring issues up by way of ineffective assistance of counsel. Due to the fact of attorney/client information and, you know, due to the Solicitors, I'd like it to be in your presence.

R. 32, l. 4 – 33, l. 1.

The judge then asked Defense Counsel Harte and Defense Counsel Tarr to state their qualifications for being attorneys in a death penalty case. Harte stated he had practiced law for thirty-six years and he had prosecuted two death penalty cases while solicitor in the second circuit. He had tried numerous murder cases, and had been appointed on two previous death penalty cases "one of which went to trial." R. 34, ll. 5-23.

Defense Counsel Tarr stated that he had practiced law for fifteen years but that this was his first death penalty case. He had handled one previous capital PCR. "I've tried a lot of cases otherwise than death penalty cases. I've worked really hard on this case for four years and I'm ready to go to trial." The following then occurred between the trial court and appellant:

THE COURT: Yes, sir, Mr. Appellant.

THE DEFENDANT: I don't mean to be disrespectful.

THE COURT: You're not being disrespectful.

THE DEFENDANT: I think we pick the jury Monday; is that correct?

THE COURT: We start with the jury on Monday.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay.

THE COURT: We're not going to pick the jury Monday. We're going to start with the jury Monday.

THE DEFENDANT: I understand that.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. And I'm not doing this for no delay tactics or anything like that. I do plan on proceeding with the jury process Monday.

I also ask Your Honor for Counsel to hand over any and all documents to my case so I can study them over the weekend. So I can come through – and if you want me to write it down while in my cell I'll be glad to do so, the motions, if necessary.

I do have, like I say, the second motion if you would like me to do it today or do it tomorrow –

THE COURT: Well, I haven't –

THE DEFENDANT: Excuse me, Monday, excuse me, but I'd like to do that in the presence of – basically the grounds for ineffective assistance of counsel.

THE COURT: Ineffective assistance of counsel?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, and my grounds why that they're ineffective basically.

R. 35, l. 7 – 36, l. 10.

Appellant is Questioned by the Trial Court

After the clerk put appellant under oath, appellant told the judge he was thirty-two years-old and that he had been to the eleventh grade in high school. However, appellant also added that he was self-educated. R. 40, l. 2 – 41, l. 4.

As for employment, appellant was co-owner “of this little carwash. I sold cars.” R. 41, ll. 9-14. In response to the judge's question, appellant told the judge he was charged with “a serious capital offense in South Carolina called murder.” R. 41, ll. 18-21. Appellant also said he was charged with kidnapping. When the judge asked appellant the punishment

for murder if he was convicted, appellant answered: “Well, it’s my understanding by statute death, life, and I believe it’s something like 30 years, if I’m not mistaken.” R. 41, l. 18 – 42, l. 5. As to kidnapping, appellant referred to “my 2010 book over there” and told the judge he understood he could be sentenced to 30 years imprisonment for kidnapping. R. 42, ll. 6-11.

The judge informed appellant that if he allowed him to represent himself, he would be held to the same standard as an attorney as far as the Rules of Court and the Rules of Evidence. Appellant stated that he understood this fact. R. 44, ll. 7-11. The following occurred between the court and appellant:

THE COURT: And you’ve studied the Rules of Evidence?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: What’s Rule 803? Do you know what that is?

THE DEFENDANT: Rule 803 – well, first of all, anything to do with the eight hundreds got to do with hearsay. 803 has something to do with – I believe like if I’m not mistaken, I think it’s in the realm of *excited utterances, present sense impressions*.

THE COURT: That’s 803 (1), that’s 803 (3).

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, 803, that’s them.

R. 44, l. 20 – 45, l. 6. (emphasis added).

Appellant also told the judge he was mentally sound even though “I have been through some type of mental health while I was younger.” Appellant said: “But I am mentally sound and I do know what’s going on with the proceedings. I know what today is, I know who the President is. I know that the Republicans took over the Senate and the House and all of that stuff like that.” R. 47, ll. 11-15.

The judge asked appellant if he had discussed self-representation with his attorneys, Tarr and Harte “or with both.” Appellant answered, “For the record, yes. And also I talked with David Tarr. And I don’t know how to say it because I’m not an emotional person, but he’s emotional about it. Mr. Harte, he said he would assist me according to the law . . .” R. 48, ll. 14-22.

Appellant told the judge that he had no interest in delay and he was not trying to manipulate the system. Appellant also stated that he wanted the trial to begin Monday as scheduled, and he confirmed that he would like Counsel Harte appointed standby counsel. R. 49, ll. 12-20.

Defense Counsel Harte then asked the judge to allow Tarr to remain as standby counsel also. The judge asked appellant if he had any objection to both attorneys remaining as standby counsel, and appellant answered, “Actually, that sounds good to me.” R. 49, l. 21 – 50, l. 8.

When the judge then began to explore possible defenses in a criminal case with appellant, appellant brought forth third party guilt pursuant to Holmes v. State, 547 U.S. 319 (2006) and the prior State v. Gay, 343 S.C. 543, 541 S.E.2d 541 (2001) standard. The following occurred between the trial judge and appellant:

THE COURT: Tell me about Holmes.

THE DEFENDANT: Holmes was a situation where he had a bunch of experts – excuse me – he had a lot of forensic evidence, to make a long story short, and the Supreme Court stated that the standard that was used was arbitrary. They didn’t give him basically the right to prepare a defense based on the cases, pretty much the standard used in South Carolina, that was used in Greg, I believe, Greg versus – I mean I’ve got it all here.

THE COURT: Gay?

THE DEFENDANT: Gay and all them cases right there. I can go through it.

THE COURT: Is there a lot of forensics in your case? I don't know.

THE DEFENDANT: No, no evidence. None whatsoever in my case.

Okay. Right now I guess that's pretty much the defenses I have.

THE COURT: Third-party guilt?

THE DEFENDANT: Third party.

THE COURT: Any other issues in your trial that you think is important to bring before the jury as far as the guilt phase is concerned?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, okay. The guilt phase, with that – I believe, what do you call it, the penalty phase is once you get found guilty, right?

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: I just want to make sure – in voir dire, is that what you all call it? Is that the proper way to say it, voir dire?

THE COURT: Voir dire, yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: There's an issue that I would like to – Witherspoon?

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: I would like to make sure that's done, to make sure that none of the jury's going to automatically vote for the death penalty.

R. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 25.

Appellant further told the judge he understood a criminal defendant did not have to prove his innocence and that he was not required to testify. Appellant knew the State's burden of proof was "beyond a reasonable doubt." Appellant answered the judge that he understood the judge would tell the jury it could not hold it against appellant if he chose not to testify. R. 54, l. 12 – 55, l. 6.

The judge asked appellant for more specifics on his complaints about the ineffective assistance of counsel he thought he was receiving. Appellant responded that because of the interstate detainer agreement issue, he specifically told his attorneys not to file for a motion for a continuance. Appellant said he was hurt because he had asked his attorneys numerous times if they had filed any continuances and they told him that they had not made such a motion. Appellant said he recently found out that counsel had indeed asked for continuances. R. 65, l. 15 – 68, l. 7.

Appellant also complained about the pre-indictment delay, and he had informed his attorneys that he wanted a speedy trial. Appellant noted his case "has been going on since '01, okay? There's no excuse for it." Appellant said he understood he still had to show prejudice from the delay, and he again mentioned what he perceived to be the bungling of the handling of the interstate detainer agreement by his attorneys and he said it had become a "trust issue with his trial attorneys." R. 68, l. 8 – 72, l. 2.

The judge then asked Defense Counsel Tarr and Defense Counsel Harte if there was anything further they would like for him to cover with appellant about representing himself. Both Tarr and Harte responded that the judge had covered everything necessary regarding self-representation. R. 72, ll. 5-13.

Defense counsel Tarr then injected that there were about 1, 600 pages of discovery involved. The judge then asked appellant if he would be ready for trial given the number of documents in discovery. Appellant stated, “I’m ready.” R. 72, l. 13 – 73, l. 7.

The judge then observed, siding with appellant: “I would suspect the defendant, this defendant knows as much about this case as anybody.” The judge said he was not diminishing the hard work that Defense Counsel Harte had done on the case, but he added: “He [appellant] might not have seen documents and such like that, but he’s had court appearances, he’s [had] good lawyers over the years. He appears to have a grasp of the case.” R. 73, ll. 5-19.

The judge also noted appellant did not want a continuance, “he’s never wanted a continuance, and I’m sure now that the State’s ready to give him a trial, but I appreciate your position [about the amount of discovery] in that regard, Mr. Tarr.” R. 73, ll. 20-24. The following then occurred between the trial court and appellant:

THE COURT: I have tried to review those factors in Faretta. It appears, and is well settled, that an accused has a right to counsel, but he may waive that right and proceed *pro se* under Faretta versus California.

Although a defendant’s decision to proceed *pro se* may be to the defendant’s own detriment, it must be honored out of the respect for the individual, which is the lifeblood of the law also citing Faretta.

The right to proceed *pro se* must clearly be asserted by the defendant prior to trial. The trial judge has the responsibility to ensure that the accused is informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation and makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel.

Mr. Appellant, let me ask you – stand again.

Knowing the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, do you knowingly wish to waive your right to counsel?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, according to the law.

THE COURT: Sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir, according to the law, yes, sir.

THE COURT: And you make that waiver knowingly and intelligently?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, knowingly and intelligently.

THE COURT: Of your own freewill and accord?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

R. 74, l. 1 – 75, l. 3.

The judge then told appellant, “I think you’re making a mistake, but you have the right to make a mistake.” He again stated he would advise appellant not to represent himself and he asked appellant to take a break for a few minutes to discuss the matter with his attorneys before he made his ruling. R. 75, l. 24 – 77, l. 23.

After the break, the judge said he was taking the matter under advisement over the weekend: “I would like to discuss with you all the procedures. We can do it on the record or we can do it in chambers as far as Monday morning or we can do it quick right now.” Defense Counsel Harte responded that he thought “in light of the Faretta motion, we ought to do it on the record.” R. 82, ll. 3-9.

The judge then advised that he was going to call the juror panels in groups of four beginning at 11:30 in the morning and ending at 5:30 in the afternoon on Monday to begin

the jury selection process. R. 82, ll. 3-21. The judge said he expected the jury would be struck Thursday morning. R. 84, ll. 3-8.

Monday, November 8, 2010

On Monday, November 8, 2010, the judge broke the jurors up into panels for *voir dire* and then said he was going to “revisit the Faretta issue.” R. 121, ll. 17-23.

Defense Counsel Harte asked that the further Faretta hearing be held *ex parte* and he said that Defense Counsel Tarr would handle the hearing. R. 124, ll. 4-23. Defense Counsel Tarr said he understood the judge had taken the matter of appellant representing himself under advisement. Defense Counsel Tarr then began his own crusade to stay on the case: “*I did find a case over the weekend, Indiana versus Edwards, a 2008 Supreme Court case [Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164 (2008)]. It stands for the proposition that the United States Constitution permits states to insist upon representation by counsel for those who are competent enough to stand trial, but may not have the competency to waive their right to counsel.*” R. 124, l. 24 – 125, l. 9. (emphasis added). Defense Counsel said that he had hired a couple of experts “to evaluate Mr. Barnes *for purposes of the sentencing phase* who are of the opinion that he is very competent to stand trial, but he lacks a competency to waive his right to counsel and conduct proceedings on his own.” R. 124, l. 24 – 125, l. 9. (emphasis added)

Tarr then added that he had “Dr. Price here today who is prepared to testify to that extent.” R. 125, ll. 10-18. The judge told Tarr he could call Dr. Price as a witness. Appellant asked to speak and the judge gave him permission.

Appellant then objected to Dr. Price testifying on the grounds that “it’s doctor/client relationship and it’s privileged information.” Appellant explained the extent of his

conversation with Dr. Price “was for the penalty phase only. If I had known that he was going to be adverse to me, I wouldn’t have talked to him.” Appellant was already familiar with the Edwards case, and he told the judge: “[The] Edwards case is totally different from the factual situation of my case. And I have to object to Dr. Price getting on the stand, because, like I say, I’m not giving him no permission to say anything in regards to me, talking about me, ‘cause like I say, my attorneys, that’s part of my defense, you know, when we get to the penalty phase. *Once we get to that phase, then, you know, I consent for him to furnish that information to the jury for mitigation.*” R. 125, l. 22 – 126, l. 24. (emphasis added).

The judge asked appellant if he was asking him to make a decision without adequate information about him. Appellant repeated that he only talked to Dr. Price for purposes of his penalty phase mitigation. That was Dr. Price’s role. Appellant said he had the right to represent himself and he cited State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 492 S.E.2d 97 (1997). R 127, l. 11 – 128, l. 13 as authority.

Defense Counsel Tarr then maintained that he was not trying to be adversarial nor was Defense Counsel Harte or Dr. Price, but that he thought the judge needed to hear the testimony of Dr. Price. Appellant then raised his Due Process objection to the judge considering hearing Dr. Price’s testimony in this context since he only talked to Dr. Price for purposes of mitigation as will be seen in issue 2 infra. R. 129, l. 14 – 130, l. 24.

The judge then stated he did not know of any procedure whereby he could appoint a state official to determine competency for self-representation. The judge said he understood the standard for competency to stand trial, but not for competency to waive an attorney and proceed pro-se.

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