**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No.: 2010-178247

RECEIVED

NOV 29 2012

---

THE STATE, S.C. Supreme Court  
Respondent,  
vs.  
STEVEN BARNES, Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
SC Bar No. 14244  
(803) 734-6305

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit  
205 E. Main Street

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

## II.

The trial judge did not abuse appellant's Due Process right by accepting and relying upon Dr. Price's testimony when Dr. Price had recently examined appellant and was able to give an informed opinion as to appellant's then existing mental state – an issue of utmost importance pursuant to *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164 (2008).

### Relevant Facts:

As noted above, the motion to proceed *pro se* was addressed *in camera* and the solicitor was neither present, nor did he or his office participate. (See R. p.122, lines 8-22). Mr. Tarr, one of appellant's own attorneys, presented the court with the *Edwards* case, and requested permission to call defense witness Dr. Price. (R.p. 125, lines 4-15). Dr. Price would later be called in the mitigation case. (See R. p. 2180, lines 5-12). However, his testimony at the November 8<sup>th</sup> hearing was limited to appellant's competency to represent himself in the proceedings. (See R. p. 125, lines 4-18).

Appellant first objected to his defense counsel, Mr. Tarr, calling Dr. Price on an assertion of privilege.<sup>10</sup> (R. p. 125, line 19 - p. 126, line 3; p. 128, lines 2-5). Mr. Tarr argued:

... Dr. Price nor Mr. Harte nor I are trying to be adversarial to Mr. Barnes, but in order for the Court to make a ruling on this issue, the Court has to be aware of all relevant information, and so we're just bring that to the Court's attention. We're not taking a position what should happen, and that's the basis of what we're doing here today, ....

(R. p. 129, line 22 - p. 130, line 4).

---

<sup>10</sup> "There is no physician-patient privilege in South Carolina." *Aakjer v. Spagnoli*, 291 S.C. 165, 173, 352 S.E.2d 503, 508 (Ct. App. 1987). Appellant could not rely on such a privilege as there is none.

Appellant then objected based on “due process,” in that, in appellant’s view:

... when he’s asking the Court to take this man for mitigation purposes only, you see what I’m saying, that’s for the penalty phase, because like I say, if you appoint a state official to conduct that review, then that’s a different story...

(R. p. 130, lines 8-13).

The trial judge rejected appellant’s argument:

... it leads me to believe when a defendant stands up and says, Well, I object to this testimony, then either, A, I make a decision without all the facts; and B, I question why a defendant would take that particular position in this matter unless his decision to represent himself and waive his attorney is fueled by something other than knowledge and intelligence. I don’t quite understand taking that position.

All I’m trying to do is, and I take it all the attorney’s trying to do is place the facts before the Court so that the Court can make an informed decision as to your right to represent yourself, which is not absolute.

(R. p. 132, lines 5-18).

Appellant then argued (again) that he would not have cooperated with Dr. Price had he known Dr. Price would testify against him at this proceeding. He asserted: “If I’d have known that he was going to try to use whatever my past reports, I would have never talked to him.” (R. p. 133, lines 9-12). The trial judge noted that appellant had not indicated any “past reports” in regard to mental state when he initially sought to proceed *pro se*: “Well, why didn’t you share that with me when I asked you Friday concerning prior mental state?” (R. p. 133, lines 20-25). Appellant only referenced his post-traumatic syndrome from a taser incident at Lieber, which he claimed was in response to the trial judge’s questions. Appellant

asserted:

I am competent to stand trial. Every thing that I told you Friday, I answered all your questions, and its on the record. I hope so. But I object to the doctor/client privilege.

(R. p. 134, lines 1-15).

Defense counsel then called Dr. Price, who testified at length about Petitioner's limitations and background which included, "16 different psychiatric diagnoses throughout his lifetime" and "six involuntary admissions, psychiatric admissions." (R. p. 138, lines 2-11). Dr. Price testified that he had "some cognitive concerns for Mr. Barnes," diagnosed him with post-traumatic stress disorder," and "cognitive disorder not otherwise specified which reflects the cognitive deficits as noted on [his] neuropsychological tests." (R. p. 138, line 12-p. 139, line 8). He had no concerns that appellant was competent to stand trial, but had definite and described concerns as to whether he could adequately represent himself due to his mental health issues, not the least of which was "distractability." (R. p. 139, line 18-p. 141, line 16; p. 146, lines 13-22).

The trial judge viewed the evidence in light of Dr. Price's testimony and with the understanding that the issues and concerns were not from mere lack of education or sophistication, but from a cloud of mental health concerns obscuring appellant's ability to make a knowing and intelligent waiver. (R. p.157, line 21 - p. 158, line 20).

Appellant argues in this appeal that the trial court "violated appellant's right to Due Process by relying on the pre-trial testimony," when appellant was not aware Dr. Price's testimony would used outside of the mitigation arena. (FBOA, p. 28).

Discussion:

Again, appellant's issue must fail as he essentially argues that if the trial judge had had less information about appellant's mental health diagnoses, and the effects of his conditions on his thought process, then he would have been able to convince the court to allowing him to proceed *pro se*. As a practical matter, this runs afoul of *Edwards* and basic concepts of due process.

"A denial of due process occurs when a defendant in a criminal trial is denied the fundamental fairness essential to the concept of justice." *State v. Hornsby*, 326 S.C. 121, 129, 484 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1997), *citing* 21 Am.Jur.2d, Criminal Law § 640 (1981). In context of competency and the legal system, "[d]ue process prohibits the conviction of a person who is mentally incompetent." *Jeter v. State*, 308 S.C. 230, 232, 417 S.E.2d 594, 595-96 (1992). Indeed, "[i]t has long been accepted that a person whose mental condition is such that he lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense may not be subjected to a trial." *State v. Finklea*, 388 S.C. 379, 383-84, 697 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2010), *quoting* *Drope v. Missouri*, 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975). The essence of the Supreme Court's ruling in *Edwards* is to ensure a fair trial, *i.e.*, to *preserve* the right to due process. *Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 178-79 ("today's opinion, assuring trial judges the authority to deal appropriately with cases [...where competency is a concern...] may well alleviate those fair trial concerns."). Thus, appellant's attempts to prevent the testimony of the defense psychiatrist is the antithesis of ensuring due process and a fair trial. His argument is misguided.

To the extent appellant asserts that he would not have cooperated in regard to

mitigation had he known his cooperation with the psychiatrist would allow the psychiatrist to be called for the purposes of evaluating his representational competency, again, there was no “due process” argument made to the trial judge. At best, this argument appears to be more of authority or control over the presentation of information necessary to the trial judge’s decision. However, the record shows that appellant was represented by counsel and counsel (Mr. Tarr) called the defense witness. This is precisely the type of evidence that Mr. Tarr would need to present to fully protect the right to a fair trial under the *Edwards* opinion. As the Supreme Court found:

... insofar as a defendant’s lack of capacity threatens an improper conviction or sentence, self-representation in that exceptional context undercuts the most basic of the Constitution’s criminal law objectives\*177 , providing a fair trial. As Justice Brennan put it, “[t]he Constitution would protect none of us if it prevented the courts from acting to preserve the very processes that the Constitution itself prescribes.” *Allen*, 397 U.S., at 350, 90 S.Ct. 1057 (concurring opinion). See *Martinez*, 528 U.S., at 162, 120 S.Ct. 684 (“Even at the trial level ... the government’s interest in ensuring the integrity and efficiency of the trial at times outweighs the defendant’s interest in acting as his own lawyer”). See also *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166, 180, 123 S.Ct. 2174, 156 L.Ed.2d 197 (2003) (“[T]he Government has a concomitant, constitutionally essential interest in assuring that the defendant’s trial is a fair one”).

*Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 176-77.

Appellant’s argument accusing the solicitor of failing to cross-examine Dr. Price is in conflict with the record that shows that neither the solicitor nor his staff were present or participated in any way. See generally *State v. Hitopoulus*, 279 S.C. 549, 551, 309 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1983) (“the attorney-client privilege extends to [defendant’s] communications to the psychiatrist employed by his attorney to aid in preparation of his defense”). Only

appellant's counsel presented the testimony. Thus, there is neither a privilege issue nor an issue concerning the court's receipt of that testimony. *See generally Koutsogiannis v. BB & T*, 365 S.C. 145, 149, 616 S.E.2d 425, 428 (2005) ("In the attorney-client relationship, clients are generally bound by their attorneys' acts or omissions during the course of the legal representation that fall within the apparent scope of their attorneys' authority."). Defense counsel is charged with protecting his client's constitutional rights. *See Martinez v. Ryan*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 1309, 1317 (2012) ("Defense counsel tests the prosecution's case to ensure that the proceedings serve the function of adjudicating guilt or innocence, while protecting the rights of the person charged.").<sup>11</sup> It is difficult to imagine that a trial judge would have any basis for determining if a mental illness negatively affected competency to represent oneself absent such testimony. *See In re Rhome*, 260 P.3d 874, 881 (Wash. 2011) ("*Edwards* does not *require* trial courts to evaluate a defendant's mental health status in order to secure a valid waiver of counsel. Rather, *Edwards* held that a state court may take this into account, and strongly suggested such considerations are integral to a knowing and intelligent waiver.") (emphasis in original).

Appellant's reliance on cases indicating a promise by the court simply cannot be reconciled with this situation. For example, appellant cites to *Knox v. Collins*, 928 F.2d 657

---

<sup>11</sup> There could be no credible issue on abandonment as counsel merely presented the testimony and did not advocate one way or the other. (R. p. 129, lines 1-4). *See generally Maples v. Thomas*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 912, 923 -24 (2012) ("We agree that, under agency principles, a client cannot be charged with the acts or omissions of an attorney who has abandoned him."). "It is by now well-established that in a criminal trial, defense counsel has the authority to manage most aspects of the defense without first obtaining the consent of the defendant." *United States v. Chapman*, 593 F.3d 365, 367-68 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010). Moreover, the trial judge noted that both counsel and Dr. Price acted in appellant's best interest in this matter. (R. p. 158, line 21 - p. 159, line 2).

(1991), but that case essentially found “a breach of fundamental fairness” where there was detrimental reliance on a trial judge’s “promise to correct stated misconceptions” about parole eligibility in capital voir dire proceedings, and a failure of the trial judge to do so. 928 F.2d at 662. There is no like promise from the court here much less any detrimental reliance. The same distinguishing feature is present in the second case cited by appellant, *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), where defense counsel tailored his closing based on specific phrases to be included in the jury instructions by the trial judge. Again, there is no like detrimental reliance here. These cases simply do not bear on the correctness of the pretrial proceedings in regard to receipt of evidence from Dr. Price.

Appellant also argues, essentially, that the trial judge had another avenue for discovery of the medical testimony – ordering a competency evaluation. (FBOA, p. 32). As a first point, as noted in the response to issue one, an *Edwards* issue may or may not be resolved by considering testimony and opinion on general competency to stand trial. *See Edwards*, 554 U.S. at 177 (“[t]he application of *Dusky*’s basic mental competence standard can help in part to avoid [... an unfair ... ] result. But given the different capacities needed to proceed to trial without counsel, there is little reason to believe that *Dusky* alone is sufficient.”). As a second point, the State did not compel any witness to testify or even suggest a witness testify. Defense counsel offered Dr. Price to opine on appellant’s competency to represent himself.<sup>12</sup> Appellant’s argument should be rejected.

---

<sup>12</sup> Again, while appellant asserts there was disagreement between the trial attorneys on whether to call Dr. Price, there was no disagreement that the record supported appellant was not competent to represent himself. Mr. Harte argued, relying on Dr. Price’s testimony, that appellant was not competent to make a decision whether to address the jury: “I would submit *and ask that Dr. Price’s testimony be put in with this,*

### III.

The trial judge conducted a full and fair *voir dire* process. Appellant is incorrect that the judge unfairly limited the ability to explore a juror's understanding of murder where necessary even though providing a definition of murder was not necessary. The judge made an individual assessment of whether additional questions were necessary and both provided context and allowed the attorneys to provide context in discrete circumstances. At any rate, the process as a whole was sufficient.

#### Relevant Facts:

The record here shows a complete and fair jury *voir dire*. The judge followed a standard template of questioning the juror initially and allowing both the State and the defense to ask individual questions.<sup>13</sup> Moreover, counsel had available a five page, specific juror questionnaire which included standard information such as education, spouse's name, employment, prior exposure to crime questions, and, additionally, such varied items as

---

that he would not be competent to make this decision.” ( R. p. 1570, lines 4-10) (emphasis added). (See also R. p. 1502, lines 12-21).

<sup>13</sup> Defense counsel actually moved pre-trial that “there be no judicial rehabilitation of potential jurors regarding the death/life qualification.” (R. p. 12, lines 22-25). The trial judge denied the motion:

I'm going to deny that motion since I have the ultimate responsibility to determine whether or not a particular juror is or is not qualified.

It's not my purpose to attempt to rehabilitate any juror. It's generally my purpose to understand what a juror may have said or to better understand what a juror may have said during the colloquy with the Court and the attorneys.

If you have - - certainly if you have an objection as to any particular juror when I do question them, Mr. Tarr, you may certainly put that on the record, but I think given the fact that it is my ultimate determination and responsibility, that I will deny that motion.

(R. p. 13, line 18 - p. 14, line 6).

requests for civic group membership, sources of news, magazines regularly read, bumper stickers displayed and favorite hobbies or pastimes. ( R. p. 2350-2354).<sup>14</sup>

In his brief to this court, appellant argues, in general, that “the trial court judge stifled counsel’s ability to determine juror attitudes toward the death penalty.” (FBOA, p. 50). He then lists the following examples: “did not allow questioning about what factors would be important in their decision-making, their understanding of “murder” in South Carolina law, or the kinds of evidence they thought would be important in rendering the death penalty.” Id.

Discussion:

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